
 47 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDICES 

 
 



48 



49 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX A 

House Resolution Number 862 
 

 



50 



51 



52 



53 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX B 

Audit Methodology 
 

 



54 



55 

Appendix B 

AUDIT METHODOLOGY 
This audit was conducted in accordance with generally accepted government auditing 

standards and the audit standards promulgated by the Office of the Auditor General at 74 Ill. 
Adm. Code 420.310.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions 
based on our audit objectives.  We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis 
for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.   

The audit objectives for this audit were those as delineated in House Resolution Number 
862 (see Appendix A), which directs the Auditor General to conduct an audit of the procurement 
practices in connection with the State’s multi-year beverage vending and pouring contract.  The 
audit objectives are listed in the Introduction section of Chapter One.  Fieldwork for this audit 
was conducted from July to September 2008.   

In conducting the audit, we reviewed applicable State statutes and rules.  We reviewed 
compliance with those laws to the extent necessary to meet the audit’s objectives.  Any instances 
of non-compliance we identified are noted in this report.  In addition to laws and rules, we 
reviewed a number of different criteria including the following: 

• Beverage Vending and Pouring Program RFP requirements; 

• CPO Notices from CMS regarding procurement; 

• Guidelines and procedures from CMS’ Illinois Center for Procurement Resources; 

• Best practices documents from the National Association of State Procurement Officials, 
the American Bar Association, and the National State Auditors Association; and 

• Other Department of Revenue RFPs. 

We also reviewed management controls and assessed risk relating to the audit’s 
objectives.  A risk assessment was conducted to identify areas that needed closer examination.  
Any significant weaknesses in those controls are included in this report. 

During the audit we met with officials from Revenue.  We interviewed all nine of the 
evaluation team members including those having left State government.  We asked evaluation 
team members about their involvement with the procurement including their participation in 
meetings, conference calls, and presentations, and the evaluation instrument.  We also spoke to 
one of the two committee members that did not score the proposals about her role related to the 
procurement. 
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On three occasions, we attempted to contact the sales and marketing company Team 
Services LLC to inquire about their role in the development of the RFP.  However, Team 
Services did not respond to our inquiries.  We asked representatives from Northern Illinois 
University, Southern Illinois University, and Western Illinois University why they elected not to 
participate in the Statewide beverage vending and pouring contract.   

We met with officials from both Coke and Pepsi.  We inquired about issues with the RFP, 
discussions with the Department of Revenue, and each of their proposals.  We examined all 
documents from the procurement file at the Department of Revenue and additional 
documentation obtained from personal files of individuals involved in the procurement.  We also 
examined documentation provided by Coke.  The following is a list of examples of 
documentation reviewed from the sources previously mentioned: 

• RFP 

• Selection of evaluation committee members  

• Beverage vending and pouring contract 

• Vendor conference transcript 

• Written communication between the Department of Revenue and Coke, Pepsi, and 
evaluation committee members 

• Powerpoint slides from vendor presentations 

• Evaluation scoring tool 

• Reference questionnaire and inquiries 

• Price proposals 

• Nedlog and Coke protests 

In addition to reviewing the above documentation, we reviewed a judgmental sample of 
nine RFPs published by the Department of Revenue between April 2004 and April 2007.  We 
compared the Beverage Vending and Pouring RFP to each of the RFPs in the sample to 
determine if the structure, evaluation, and evaluation tool were similar.  The structure of each 
sample RFP was examined to determine if the following were included:  a minimum required 
point value, alternative evaluation language, and breakdown of the scoring evaluation.  The 
evaluation and evaluation tool for each sample RFP was examined to determine if the following 
were included:  the use of subfactors, variances in scoring, and inclusion of references. 

 

 
 
 
 



 57 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX C 

Evaluation Scoring Tool 
 

 



58 



 

59 

Ill
in

oi
s 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f R
ev

en
ue

: C
O

N
FI

D
E

N
TI

A
L 

P
ag

e 
1 

  
FY

07
  B

E
V

E
R

A
G

E
 R

FP
 E

V
A

LU
A

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

M
 

 
V

E
N

D
O

R
 N

A
M

E
:_

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

M
ax

im
um

 
po

in
ts

 p
er

 
ca

te
go

ry
 

M
ax

im
um

 
po

in
ts

 p
er

 
su

b-
ca

te
go

ry
 

E
va

lu
at

or
's

 
sc

or
e 

  
 

E
V

A
LU

A
TO

R
 C

O
N

S
ID

E
R

A
TI

O
N

S
 IN

 A
R

R
IV

IN
G

 A
T 

S
C

O
R

E
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

20
0 

  
  

V
E

N
D

O
R

 B
A

C
K

G
R

O
U

N
D

 A
N

D
 E

X
P

E
R

IE
N

C
E

 
 

  

 
65

 
  

C
om

pa
ny

 b
ac

kg
ro

un
d/

ex
pe

ri
en

ce
 

 
  

  
15

 
 

 
 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
ve

nd
or

 h
av

e 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

in
 p

ro
vi

di
ng

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
si

m
ila

r t
o 

th
os

e 
en

vi
si

on
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

R
FP

? 
 (1

5 
po

in
ts

) 

  
20

 
 

  
 

D
id

 th
e 

V
en

do
r p

ro
vi

de
 e

xa
m

pl
es

 s
uf

fic
ie

nt
 to

 d
em

on
st

ra
te

 th
e 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y 

to
 

m
an

ag
e 

an
d 

co
m

pl
et

e 
an

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t o

f t
hi

s 
de

pt
h 

an
d 

sc
op

e?
 (2

0 
po

in
ts

) 

  
15

 
 

  
 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
V

en
do

r's
 te

ch
ni

ca
l b

ac
kg

ro
un

d 
as

 it
 re

la
te

s 
to

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

lis
te

d 
in

 th
e 

R
FP

 d
em

on
st

ra
te

 s
up

er
io

r s
tre

ng
th

 in
 a

ny
 o

ne
 a

re
a 

or
 a

 g
oo

d 
br

ea
dt

h 
an

d 
de

pt
h 

of
 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
(e

.g
., 

m
ar

ke
tin

g 
v.

 s
er

vi
ci

ng
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t)?
 (1

5 
po

in
ts

) 

  
15

 
 

  
 

A
re

 th
e 

V
en

do
r's

 o
th

er
 v

en
di

ng
 c

lie
nt

s 
of

 a
 s

im
ila

r s
iz

e 
to

 th
e 

S
ta

te
's

? 
(1

5 
po

in
ts

) 
  

60
 

 
S

ta
ff

 b
ac

kg
ro

un
d/

ex
pe

ri
en

ce
 

 
  

  
20

 
 

 
 

D
o 

th
e 

re
su

m
es

/b
io

s 
fo

r t
he

 p
er

so
nn

el
 o

r t
yp

e 
of

 p
er

so
nn

el
 w

ho
 w

ou
ld

 s
er

ve
 th

e 
S

ta
te

 
ha

ve
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

e 
th

at
 s

ug
ge

st
s 

th
ey

 c
an

 e
xc

ee
d 

or
 fu

lfi
ll 

th
ei

r d
ut

ie
s 

at
 th

e 
S

ta
te

? 
 (2

0 
po

in
ts

)  
 

  
20

 
 

  
 

W
ill

 p
er

so
nn

el
 h

av
e 

tra
in

in
g 

as
 d

es
cr

ib
ed

 in
 s

ec
tio

n 
4.

20
.6

? 
(2

0 
po

in
ts

) 

  
20

 
 

  
 

W
ill

 th
e 

st
af

fin
g 

pl
an

 fo
r k

ey
 a

nd
 s

up
po

rt 
pe

rs
on

ne
l a

llo
w

 th
e 

V
en

do
r t

o 
ex

ce
ed

 o
r f

ul
fil

l 
th

e 
S

ta
te

's
 g

oa
ls

. (
20

 p
oi

nt
s)

 
  

75
 

 
R

ef
er

en
ce

s 
 

  
  

10
 

 
S

im
ila

rit
y 

of
 c

lie
nt

s 
 

H
ow

 d
oe

s 
th

e 
si

ze
 o

f t
he

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
co

m
pa

re
 to

 th
e 

S
ta

te
? 

(1
0 

po
in

ts
) 

  
10

 
 

  
 

A
re

 th
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 th
e 

cl
ie

nt
 re

qu
ire

s 
si

m
ila

r t
o 

th
os

e 
re

qu
ire

d 
by

 th
is

 R
FP

? 
W

er
e 

th
ey

 
pl

ea
se

d 
w

ith
 th

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 re

ce
iv

ed
? 

 (1
0 

po
in

ts
) 

  
10

 
 

  
 

D
id

 th
e 

cl
ie

nt
 re

qu
ire

 a
nd

 re
ce

iv
e 

si
m

ila
r s

ta
ff 

sk
ill

s?
 (1

0 
po

in
ts

) 

  
10

 
 

  
 

H
ow

 m
an

y 
of

 th
e 

V
en

do
r's

 s
am

e 
ke

y 
pe

op
le

 th
at

 w
er

e 
us

ed
 a

t t
he

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
us

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
S

ta
te

's
 e

ng
ag

em
en

t?
 (1

0 
po

in
ts

) 

  
35

 
 

Q
ua

lit
y 

 
P

oi
nt

s 
aw

ar
de

d 
fo

r r
ef

er
en

ce
 q

ua
lit

y 
w

ill
 b

e 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 b
y 

re
sp

on
se

s 
to

 th
e 

R
ef

er
en

ce
 

Q
ue

st
io

nn
ai

re
.  

O
ne

 s
co

re
 w

ill
 b

e 
ca

lc
ul

at
ed

 fo
r e

ac
h 

ve
nd

or
, a

nd
 a

ll 
ev

al
ua

to
rs

 w
ill

 
in

se
rt 

th
at

 s
co

re
 in

to
 th

ei
r r

es
pe

ct
iv

e 
sc

or
in

g 
sh

ee
ts

.  
 

  
  

 
  

 
  

  
20

0 
0 

TO
TA

L 
S

C
O

R
E

 F
O

R
 S

E
C

TI
O

N
 (o

ut
 o

f 2
00

) 
 

  

   1 
of

 3
 

E
va

lu
at

or
’s

 In
iti

al
s_

__
__

_ 



 

60 

Ill
in

oi
s 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f R
ev

en
ue

: C
O

N
FI

D
E

N
TI

A
L 

P
ag

e 
2 

  
FY

07
  B

E
V

E
R

A
G

E
 R

FP
 E

V
A

LU
A

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

M
 

 
V

E
N

D
O

R
 N

A
M

E
:_

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

M
ax

im
um

 
po

in
ts

 p
er

 
ca

te
go

ry
 

M
ax

im
um

 
po

in
ts

 p
er

 
su

b-
ca

te
go

ry
 

E
va

lu
at

or
's

 
sc

or
e 

  
 

E
V

A
LU

A
TO

R
 C

O
N

S
ID

E
R

A
TI

O
N

S
 IN

 A
R

R
IV

IN
G

 A
T 

S
C

O
R

E
 

  
  

  
  

 
  

20
0 

  
  

TE
C

H
N

IC
A

L 
A

P
P

R
O

A
C

H
 

 
  

 
  

  
E

X
E

C
U

TI
V

E
 S

U
M

M
A

R
Y

 
 

 
 

15
 

  
U

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 o
f s

co
pe

 o
f s

er
vi

ce
s 

 
 

  
5 

 
 

 
D

oe
s 

th
e 

V
en

do
r c

om
m

it 
to

 s
up

po
rti

ng
 a

nd
 e

nh
an

ci
ng

 th
e 

S
ta

te
's

 c
om

m
itm

en
t t

o 
B

lin
d 

V
en

do
rs

? 
(5

 p
oi

nt
s)

 

  
5 

 
  

 
D

oe
s 

th
e 

V
en

do
r d

em
on

st
ra

te
 a

n 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
 th

e 
sc

op
e 

of
 w

or
k 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
s 

sp
ec

ifi
ed

 in
 S

ec
tio

n 
4?

 (5
 p

oi
nt

s)
 

  
5 

 
  

 
H

as
 th

e 
V

en
do

r i
nd

ic
at

ed
 it

s 
ab

ili
ty

 to
 c

om
pl

y 
w

ith
 th

e 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 o

f t
he

 R
FP

 a
nd

 th
e 

te
rm

s 
an

d 
co

nd
iti

on
s 

of
 th

e 
st

an
da

rd
 c

on
tra

ct
 (e

xt
en

si
ve

 e
xc

ep
tio

ns
, o

r e
xc

ep
tio

ns
 to

 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 p
ro

vi
si

on
s,

 s
ho

ul
d 

re
du

ce
 a

ny
 p

oi
nt

s 
aw

ar
de

d)
? 

(5
 p

oi
nt

s)
 

  
5 

 
Q

ua
lit

y 
of

 S
um

m
ar

y 
 

  

  
5 

 
 

 
H

ow
 s

tro
ng

ly
 d

oe
s 

th
e 

ve
nd

or
's

 s
um

m
ar

y 
of

 q
ua

lif
ic

at
io

ns
 s

ug
ge

st
 th

at
 it

 is
 b

es
t s

ui
te

d 
fo

r t
he

 p
ro

je
ct

? 
   

   
  (

5 
po

in
ts

) 
  

55
 

 
V

en
di

ng
 a

nd
 P

ou
ri

ng
 

 
  

  
10

 
 

  
 

A
ss

es
s 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 c

re
di

bi
lit

y 
of

 th
e 

ve
nd

or
's

 p
la

n 
to

 s
el

l b
ev

er
ag

es
 a

s 
de

sc
rib

ed
 in

 
se

ct
io

n 
4.

4 
to

 th
e 

Ill
in

oi
s 

A
ss

oc
ia

tio
n 

of
 B

lin
d 

V
en

do
rs

, t
he

 S
ta

te
 P

ar
k 

C
on

ce
ss

io
na

ire
s,

 
U

ni
ve

rs
iti

y 
C

am
pu

s 
R

es
al

e 
an

d 
ca

fe
te

ria
 lo

ca
tio

ns
 a

nd
 th

e 
S

tu
de

nt
 V

en
di

ng
 P

ro
gr

am
. 

(1
0 

po
in

ts
) 

  
10

 
 

  
 

D
id

 th
e 

ve
nd

or
 b

id
 o

n 
m

ar
ke

tin
g 

as
 d

es
cr

ib
ed

 in
 4

.4
 a

nd
 is

 th
e 

m
ar

ke
tin

g 
pl

an
 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 th

e 
S

ta
te

's
 g

oa
ls

? 
(1

0 
po

in
ts

) 

  
10

 
 

  
 

A
ss

es
s 

th
e 

ca
pa

ci
ty

 o
f t

he
 V

en
do

r's
 p

la
n 

to
 m

an
ag

e 
th

e 
S

ta
te

 V
en

di
ng

 P
ro

gr
am

 to
 

m
ee

t t
he

 S
ta

te
's

 g
oa

ls
. (

10
 p

oi
nt

s)
 

  
10

 
 

  
 

A
ss

es
s 

th
e 

ca
pa

ci
ty

 o
f t

he
 V

en
do

r's
 p

la
n 

to
 m

an
ag

e 
th

e 
Ill

in
oi

s 
S

ta
te

 F
ai

r P
ro

gr
am

 to
 

m
ee

t t
he

 S
ta

te
's

 g
oa

ls
. (

10
 p

oi
nt

s)
 

  
15

 
 

  
 

A
ss

es
s 

th
e 

ca
pa

ci
ty

 o
f t

he
 V

en
do

r's
 p

la
n 

to
 m

an
ag

e 
th

e 
U

ni
ve

rs
ity

 V
en

di
ng

 a
nd

 
P

ou
rin

g 
P

ro
gr

am
 to

 m
ee

t t
he

 s
ta

te
's

 g
oa

ls
. (

15
 p

oi
nt

s)
 

 
75

 
 

R
ev

en
ue

 G
ro

w
th

 
 

  

 
35

 
 

 
 

D
id

 th
e 

ve
nd

or
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

 c
re

di
bl

e 
re

ve
nu

e 
gr

ow
th

 p
la

n.
  A

re
 th

e 
V

en
do

r's
 a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
 

cl
ea

r a
nd

 re
as

on
ab

le
? 

  (
35

 p
oi

nt
s)

 
 

40
 

 
 

 
D

oe
s 

th
e 

gr
ow

th
 p

la
n 

m
ee

t o
r e

xc
ee

d 
th

e 
st

at
e'

s 
re

ve
nu

e 
ob

je
ct

iv
es

? 
(4

0 
po

in
ts

) 
 

10
 

 
R

ep
or

tin
g 

 
  

 
10

 
 

 
 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
V

en
do

r's
 p

ro
po

sa
l f

or
 re

po
rti

ng
 c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

ly
 c

ov
er

 th
e 

re
po

rti
ng

 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 in

 4
.6

? 
 D

id
 th

e 
ve

nd
or

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 s

am
pl

e 
re

po
rt?

  D
oe

s 
th

e 
ve

nd
or

 h
av

e 
a 

sy
st

em
 in

 p
la

ce
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 to
 p

ro
du

ce
 th

es
e 

ty
pe

s 
of

 re
po

rts
 o

r d
oe

s 
th

e 
V

en
do

r h
av

e 
to

 
de

ve
lo

p 
th

e 
sy

st
em

? 
(1

0 
po

in
ts

) 
 

15
 

 
V

en
di

ng
 O

pe
ra

tio
ns

 a
nd

 P
ro

ce
du

re
s 

 
  

 
15

 
 

  
 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
V

en
do

r i
nd

ic
at

e 
it 

w
ill

 c
om

pl
y 

w
ith

 th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 in
 s

ec
tio

ns
 4

.9
, 

4.
10

, 4
.1

4 
an

d 
4.

15
 o

f t
he

 R
FP

? 
(1

5 
po

in
ts

) 

  2 
of

 3
 

E
va

lu
at

or
’s

 In
iti

al
s_

__
__

_ 



 

61 

Ill
in

oi
s 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f R
ev

en
ue

: C
O

N
FI

D
E

N
TI

A
L 

P
ag

e 
3 

  
FY

07
  B

E
V

E
R

A
G

E
 R

FP
 E

V
A

LU
A

TI
O

N
 F

O
R

M
 

 
V

E
N

D
O

R
 N

A
M

E
:_

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

M
ax

im
um

 
po

in
ts

 p
er

 
ca

te
go

ry
 

M
ax

im
um

 
po

in
ts

 p
er

 
su

b-
ca

te
go

ry
 

E
va

lu
at

or
's

 
sc

or
e 

  
 

E
V

A
LU

A
TO

R
 C

O
N

S
ID

E
R

A
TI

O
N

S
 IN

 A
R

R
IV

IN
G

 A
T 

S
C

O
R

E
 

  
10

 
  

D
eb

it 
C

ar
d 

Te
ch

no
lo

gy
 

 
 

 
5 

  
  

 
Is

 th
e 

V
en

do
r's

 p
la

n 
fo

r i
nt

ro
du

ci
ng

 a
nd

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 d

eb
it 

ca
rd

 te
ch

no
lo

gy
 a

nd
 c

ha
ng

e 
m

ak
in

g 
eq

ui
pm

en
t c

on
si

st
en

t w
ith

 th
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 in
 S

ec
tio

n 
4.

12
 o

f t
he

 R
FP

? 
(5

 
po

in
ts

) 

 
5 

 
 

 
D

oe
s 

th
e 

V
en

do
r h

av
e 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
in

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 s

uc
ce

ss
fu

lly
 th

e 
ty

pe
 o

f d
eb

it 
ca

rd
 

te
ch

no
lo

gy
 fe

at
ur

es
 th

at
 th

e 
st

at
e 

ha
s 

re
qu

es
te

d?
 (5

 p
oi

nt
s)

 

 
15

 
  

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s,
 S

an
ita

tio
n 

an
d 

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 
 

  

  
15

 
  

  
 

Is
 th

e 
V

en
do

r's
 P

la
n 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 th

e 
eq

ui
pm

en
t, 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 a
nd

 fa
ci

lit
y 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
in

 s
ec

tio
ns

 4
.1

6,
 4

.1
7 

an
d 

4.
18

? 
(1

5 
po

in
ts

) 
  

  
  

  
 

  
  

20
0 

0 
TO

TA
L 

S
C

O
R

E
 F

O
R

 S
E

C
TI

O
N

 (o
ut

 o
f 2

00
) 

 
  

  
  

  
  

 
  

10
0 

  
  

P
R

O
D

U
C

T 
S

E
LE

C
TI

O
N

 
 

  

  
10

0 
  

  
 

D
id

 th
e 

V
en

do
r p

ro
vi

de
 a

 li
st

 o
f p

ro
du

ct
 o

ffe
rin

gs
 a

s 
re

qu
ire

d 
in

 4
.9

 o
f t

he
 R

FP
? 

 W
ill

 th
e 

of
fe

rin
gs

 s
up

po
rt 

an
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 R
ev

en
ue

 a
nd

 a
re

 th
ey

 o
th

er
w

is
e 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 th

e 
S

ta
te

's
 g

oa
ls

? 
(1

00
 p

oi
nt

s)
 

  
10

0 
0 

TO
TA

L 
S

C
O

R
E

 F
O

R
 S

E
C

TI
O

N
 O

U
T 

O
F 

10
0 

 
  

50
0 

  
0 

G
R

A
N

D
 T

O
TA

L 
FO

R
 T

E
C

H
N

IC
A

L 
P

R
O

P
O

S
A

L 
 

  
  

  
  

  
 

  
  

  
  

  
 

E
V

A
LU

A
TO

R
'S

 S
IG

N
A

TU
R

E
:_

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
_ 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
E

V
A

LU
A

TO
R

'S
 P

R
IN

TE
D

 N
A

M
E

:_
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
D

A
TE

:_
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
__

__
_ 

        3 
of

 3
 

E
va

lu
at

or
’s

 In
iti

al
s_

__
__

_



62 

 



63 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
APPENDIX D 

Evaluation Team Scoring Results 
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Appendix D 
EVALUATION TEAM SCORING RESULTS 

Evaluator  
#1 

Evaluator  
#2 

Evaluator  
#3 

Evaluator  
#4 

Categories 

Total 
Possible 
Points Pepsi Coke Pepsi Coke Pepsi Coke Pepsi Coke 

BACKGROUND & 
EXPERIENCE          

Company background/ 
experience 65 56 39 65 65 63 63 55 58 

Staff background/ 
experience 60 10 17 60 60 55 50 24 32 

References 75 55 50 55 50 55 50 55 50 

Total Score for Section 200 121 106 180 175 173 163 134 140 
          
TECHNICAL 
APPROACH          

Understanding of scope of 
services 15 13 11 13 13 15 101 8 11 

Quality of summary 5 3 1 5 5 5 5 2 3 

Vending and pouring 55 39 20 51 52 55 321 34 38 

Revenue growth 75 25 0 65 55 75 75 30 50 

Reporting 10 10 9 10 10 10 10 5 8 

Vending operations and 
procedures 15 14 3 12 12 15 15 7 8 

Debit card technology 10 3 4 7 8 51 10 0 0 

Facilities, sanitation, and 
maintenance 15 12 2 15 15 01 15 8 10 

Total Score for Section 200 119 50 178 170 180 172 94 128 
          

PRODUCT SELECTION 100 65 50 90 90 100 100 70 70 

          

GRAND TOTAL 500 305 206 448 435 453 435 298 338 

Note: 1Subcategories which contained elements left blank on evaluation scoring tools. 

Source:  Summary of Evaluation Team Scoring Instruments. 

 

 

 



65 

Appendix D 
EVALUATION TEAM SCORING RESULTS 

Evaluator 
#5 

Evaluator  
#6 

Evaluator  
#7 

Evaluator  
#8 

Evaluator  
#9 Average 

Pepsi Coke Pepsi Coke Pepsi Coke Pepsi Coke Pepsi Coke Pepsi Coke 

            

49 48 51 48 54 54 55 55 50 55 55.3 53.9 

49 43 49 40 20 22 40 40 50 15 39.7 35.4 

55 50 55 50 55 50 55 50 55 50 55.0 50.0 

153 141 155 138 129 126 150 145 155 120 150.0 139.3 
            

            

13 12 12 11 12 11 15 5 13 12 12.7 10.7 

3 4 4 3 3 3 5 5 5 3 3.9 3.6 

41 35 39 34 37 37 55 50 50 24 44.6 35.8 

65 40 45 35 201 151 50 50 30 0 45.0 35.6 

8 8 7 7 10 10 10 10 10 10 8.9 9.1 

13 12 13 13 10 10 15 5 10 5 12.1 9.2 

8 7 6 6 8 8 6 6 8 4 5.7 5.9 

12 12 12 10 10 10 15 10 10 7 10.4 10.1 

163 130 138 119 110 104 171 141 136 65 143.2 119.9 
            

90 65 95 95 95 90 100 100 100 75 89.4 81.7 

            

406 336 388 352 334 320 421 386 391 260 382.7 340.9 

Note: 1Subcategories which contained elements left blank on evaluation scoring tools. 

Source:  Summary of Evaluation Team Scoring Instruments. 
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APPENDIX E 

RFP Services Required from the Vendor 
– to be Addressed in the Technical 

Approach Section of Vendor’s Proposal 
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APPENDIX E-1 

Coke’s Response to  
Technical Approach Section 
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APPENDIX E-2 

Pepsi’s Response to  
Technical Approach Section 
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APPENDIX F 

Coke’s August 3, 2007, Protest Letter 
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APPENDIX G 

Vending Machine Locations by County 
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Appendix G 
VENDING MACHINE LOCATIONS BY COUNTY 

 

 
Source: OAG summary of vending machine information contained in the RFP. 
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APPENDIX H 

Agency Responses 
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Contract Execution 
 
Recommendation 1:   The Department of Revenue should ensure that contracts contain dated 
signatures as required by Comptroller’s Accounting Bulletin #124.  In addition, the Statewide 
Beverage Contract should commence on the last dated signature as specified in the contract. 
 
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  As a result of this recommendation, the Department has included 
this item as part of its procurement checklist. IDOR managers have also been reminded that no 
services can begin or products purchased until a contract has been signed and dated by all 
parties. The State Beverage Contract commenced long after Revenue's Director signed this 
contract on August 15, 2008. 
 
Timing of the Vendor Conference 
 
Recommendation 2:   The Department of Revenue should ensure that potential vendors have an 
adequate amount of time to review the Request for Proposal prior to the vendor conference. 
  
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  The Department will ensure that vendors are afforded a minimum of 
10 working days to review RFP's prior to the vendor conference.  The Department has included 
this item as part of its procurement checklist. 
 
Vendor Presentations 
 
Recommendation 3:   The Department of Revenue should maintain adequate documentation of 
vendor presentations including a record of who attended the presentations and the discussions 
that took place.  If evaluation team members are unable to attend the vendor presentations, the 
Department should ensure that the evaluation team members receive the necessary information 
for scoring the proposals. 
  
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  During the course of this audit, the Department instituted measures 
to ensure compliance with this recommendation for creating and maintaining adequate 
documentation of vendor presentations.  In addition, in the event that evaluation team members 
are unable to attend any vendor presentations, IDOR will ensure that those evaluation team 
members receive any necessary information. 
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Evaluation Scoring Tool 
 
Recommendation 4:   The Department of Revenue should ensure that scoring tools include 
correct references when referring to specific sections of the RFP.  If subcategories are used in the 
scoring tools, point values assigned to those categories should be appropriate based on language 
in the RFP. 
 
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  As a result of this recommendation, the Department has included 
this item as part of its procurement checklist. 
 
Documenting Evaluation Committee Meetings 
 
Recommendation 5:   The Department of Revenue should document evaluation committee 
meetings including dates, who attended, and what was discussed. 
 
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  As a result of this recommendation, the Department has included 
this item as part of its procurement checklist. 
 
Scoring Issues 
 
Recommendation 6:   The Department of Revenue should follow CMS Guidelines and ensure 
that: 

• Major differences in scores are discussed to determine if an error was made or an 
evaluator missed or misinterpreted a vendor’s proposal; 

 
• Evaluation tools are fully completed with no elements left blank; and 

 
• Rating points are supported with thorough and appropriate comments. 

 
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  The Department will ensure that CMS guidelines are followed.  
Major differences in scores will be discussed with the evaluator/evaluation team.  Evaluation 
tools will be checked to ensure that they are fully completed and the ratings points are supported 
with thorough and appropriate comments. 
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References 
 
Recommendation 7:   The Department of Revenue should ensure that: 

• The reference questionnaire encompass all of the elements included on the evaluation 
tools; 

 
• References are asked to rate the vendor (when using the subfactor #5 used in this scoring 

tool) and the resulting scores are inserted for all evaluators; and 
 

• References are fully documented in the procurement file including the reference 
questionnaires and how scores are formulated. 

 
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  As a result of this recommendation, the Department has included 
these items as part of its procurement checklist. 
 
Opening Price Proposals 
 
Recommendation 8:   The Department of Revenue should not open price proposals from 
vendors, or begin discussions regarding pricing with vendors, whose technical proposals are 
rejected for failing to meet minimum point requirements. 
  
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  Procurement staff will take proactive steps to ensure technical 
proposals meet minimum point requirements before releasing pricing information.  
 
Evaluation Language in Request for Proposal 
 
Recommendation 9:   The Department of Revenue should include alternative evaluation 
language in all Request for Proposals.  The Department should also consider using minimum 
point requirement language that would ensure more than one vendor is considered for price 
evaluation. 
 
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  The Department has taken steps to ensure that its RFP’s are 
consistent with this recommendation. 
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Protest Resolution 
 
Recommendation 10:  The Department of Revenue should comply with the Standard 
Procurement rules and ensure that protests are resolved in a timely fashion.  The Department 
should also ensure the central points of the protest are fully addressed. 
  
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  The Department has taken proactive steps to ensure that it complies 
with these recommendations.  The Procurement Manual has been reviewed and updated; training 
is provided to Staff/Program Areas (as needed) on procurement rules.  The Procurement Manual 
is readily available via the Department intranet site. 
 
Clarifying Offers 
 
Recommendation 11:   The Department of Revenue should request vendors to clarify offers and 
provide missing information when appropriate. 
  
 Response:  
 
Recommendation accepted.  As a result of this recommendation, the Department has included 
this item as part of its procurement checklist. 
 




